Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-27-2013

Bank of Idaho v. First American Title Insurance Company Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41157

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

i. The Nature of the Case.

This is an action to recover damages due under a lender's policy of title insurance ("the Policy"), brought by the insured, Bank of Idaho ("BOI"), against First American Title Insurance Company ("FATCO"), successor in interest to United General Title Insurance Company ("United General"), which issued the subject policy through its authorized agent, Mountain West Title and Escrow ("Mountain West"). (R. Vol. 1, pp. 5-7.) The District Court granted FATCO's motion for summary judgment, concluding that the policy at issue did not provide coverage for BOI's losses. (R. Vol. 2, p. 461.) BOI respectfully appeals from that determination. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 470-73.)

ii. The Course of Proceedings Below.

BOI filed its complaint on January 27, 2012. (R. Vol. 1, p. 1.) FATCO answered on April 19, 2012, and the parties exchanged rounds of written discovery. (Id.) FATCO's answer admitted many of the basic facts alleged in the complaint, but asserted numerous affirmative defenses based on various policy provisions. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 310-14.)

In challenging these defenses, BOI filed a motion for partial summary judgment on April 5, 2013, asking for judgment in its favor on the issue of FATCO's liability under the Policy, but leaving the disputed issue of damages for later determination. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 146-7.) In addition to its memorandum in support, BOI offered the affidavit of Larry Bell, BOI's Vice President and Regional Real Estate Manager, with copies of the preliminary title commitment and the policy at issue attached as exhibits. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 68-110.) BOI also filed an affidavit of counsel attaching various other documents exchanged by the parties. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 25-67.)

FATCO filed its own motion for summary judgment on April 11, 2013, asserting that BOI had not suffered a loss covered by the Policy. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 149-52.) FATCO supported its motion with a memorandum and affidavits with attached exhibits from Jeffry Young, FATCO's Senior Claims Counsel, (R. Vol. 2, pp. 167-225), Jeffrey Kelley, a certified appraiser, (R. Vol. 2, pp. 226-283), and counsel, (R. Vol. 2, pp. 284-316.).

Both parties submitted memoranda in opposition to each other's motions, and BOI also filed second affidavits with attached exhibits from Larry Bell, (R. Vol. 2, pp. 328-62.), and counsel, (R. Vol. 2, pp. 363-79.), in opposition. The parties then filed reply memoranda in support of their respective motions, and FATCO also filed a motion to strike certain portions of Larry Bell's affdavits, (R. Vol. 2, pp. 427-8.), with a supporting memorandum, to which BOI filed a memorandum in opposition.

The District Court heard the parties' motions on May 9, 2013 and took the matter under advisement. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 450-1.) On May 28, 2013, the Court issued its memorandum decision and order granting FATCO's motion to strike in part, granting FATCO's motion for summary judgment and denying BOI's motion. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 452-62.) Judgment of dismissal was entered on May 28, 2013, (R. Vol. 2, p. 463-4.), and BOI timely filed its notice of appeal on June 24, 2013. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 470-4.)

iii. Statement of Facts.

The policy at issue in this case was issued to BOI in conjunction with financing a residential development project on adjoining lots in Idaho Falls, at the request of its customers, Brian and Amy Peterson (the "Petersons"). (R. Vol. 1, pp. 68-9, ¶ 2-4.) The Petersons' plans for the project called for one residential four-plex to be built on Lot 1 and a second to be built on Lot

2 with both lots having frontage and access to the city street. (Id.) BOI relied on the Petersons' plans in structuring the financing and securing the related commitments for title insurance. (Id.) BOI requested and obtained separate title insurance commitments on each lot through Mountain West, the authorized agent of United General, FATCO's predecessor in interest. (R. Vol. 1, p. 69, ¶ 4; Vol. 1, p. 5, ¶ 3-4; Vol. 2, p. 310, ¶ 2.)

After obtaining the commitments, BOI finalized the project's financing with two separate construction loans secured by two separate deeds of trust on Lot 1 and Lot 2 respectively, and in due course the two separate title insurance policies were issued. (R. Vol. 1, p. 69, ¶ 6-7.) The policy at issue in this action, Policy No. 64092871 (the "Policy"), insured Lot 1, and a second policy which is not at issue insured Lot 2. (Id.) For ease of reference, a complete copy of the Policy is attached to the first Affidavit of Larry Bell as Exhibit 2. (R. Vol. 1, p. 69, ¶ 7; Vol. 1, pp. 95-110.)

As a part of the transaction, BOI requested and paid an extra premium for the extended coverage provided by several endorsements, including Endorsement No. 116. (R. Vol. 1, p. 69, ¶ 5; Vol. 1, p. 89.) In addition to the more common types of coverage typically contained in title policies, Endorsement 116 expressly insured BOI against any "loss or damage" it sustained because of the failure to locate the planned four-plex on Lot 1, providing in pertinent part:

The Company hereby insures the owner of the indebtedness secured by the insured mortgage against loss or damage which the insured shall sustain by reason of the failure of (i) a MULTI FAMILY RESIDENCE (description of improvement e.g. "a single family residence") known as 1354 E 16th Street, Idaho Falls, ID 83401 (street address), to be located on the land at Date of Policy, . . . (Emphasis in original.)

(R. Vol. 1, p. 110.) BOI specifically requested the inclusion of Endorsement 116 because it wanted assurance that the planned building was actually built on Lot 1as legally described in the deed of trust in accordance with its standard practices when financing new construction. (R. Vol. 2, p. 330, ¶ 8.)

In fact, the required four-plex was never built on Lot 1. (R. Vol. 1, p. 70, \P 9.) Instead, without BOI's knowledge or consent, both four-plexes were built on Lot 2, and only a storm water retention pond, garbage bin and parking lot were located on Lot 1. (Id.)

The failure to locate one of the four-plexes on Lot 1 substantially decreased its value. (R. Vol. 1, p. 70, ¶ 10.) Although the parties dispute the amount of diminution, the appraisal BOI originally obtained in conjunction with financing the project provides that the market value of Lot 1 with the proposed four-plex on it was \$279,000.00 as of December 13, 2006. (R. Vol. 2, p. 329, ¶ 4; Vol. 2, p. 339.) According FATCO's own appraiser, the appraised value of Lot 1 "as built" was \$22,000.00 as of September 6, 2011, a difference of \$257,000.00. (R. Vol. 2, p. 329, ¶ 5; Vol. 2, p. 234.)

The failure to locate one of the four-plexes on Lot 1 also eliminated BOI's ability to replace the short-term construction loans on the two parcels with long-term loans that could then be sold into the secondary market. (R. Vol. 1, p. 70, ¶ 10.) BOI does not retain loans like those at issue in its own loan portfolio. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 331-2, ¶ 13.) Instead, it routinely sells them into the secondary mortgage market. (Id.) Consequently, BOI's original plan was to finance each unit separately so its debt instruments would qualify for sale on the secondary market. (Id.)

However, in March, 2009, when BOI attempted to close out the construction loans on Lots 1 and 2 and replace them with the long-term loans that would constitute the Petersons' long term financing, which could then be individually sold into the secondary market, it was precluded from doing so because both four-plexes had been built on Lot 2, and the two parcels could no longer be sold separately. (R. Vol. 1, p. 70, ¶ 9-10; Vol. 2, pp. 331-2, ¶ 13, p. 333, ¶ 17.) At that point, BOI attempted to mitigate its damages by modifying the original deeds of trust to "cross-collateralize" the lots with a combined legal description. (R. Vol. 2, p. 333, ¶ 20; Vol. 2, pp. 197-8.)

The secondary market for loans for 1-4 family units is entirely different than multi-family units in excess of four units. (R. Vol. 2, p. 332, ¶ 15.) BOI made inquiries and could not locate a lender that would accept the single eight-unit property as collateral. (R. Vol. 2, p. 332, ¶ 13.) As a result, BOI was left without a secondary market for its debt instruments because the property was characterized "as built" as an eight-plex, tightly squeezed onto an undersized lot. (R. Vol. 2, p. 332-3, ¶ 13, 18.)

The Petersons subsequently defaulted on the construction loans and filed bankruptcy. The trustee initiated foreclosure proceedings, recording the Notice of Default and Election to Sell for Lot 1 on October 29, 2009. (R. Vol. 1, p. 70, ¶ 11; Vol. 2, p. 356.)

According to the Notice, as of October 27, 2009, there was a total of \$232,424.57 due and owing, plus \$989.00 for the cost of the trustee's sale guarantee, attorney's fees and other expenses of foreclosure. (R. Vol. 2, p. 356.) From the time the Petersons defaulted on the loans through the foreclosure and sale process until the date BOI was eventually able to resell both lots as a single

unit, it incurred additional out-of-pocket expenses in the amount of at least \$37,816.05. (R. Vol. 2, p. 329, ¶ 9.)

The trustee's sale occurred on March 11, 2010, BOI made credit bids for all amounts due and owing on each lot at the sale, and the trustee conveyed both lots to BOI on March 15, 2010. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 211-6.) In an attempt to mitigate its losses, BOI finally resold both lots as a single unit on November 15, 2010, did not fully recoup its loan losses and expenses. (R. Vol.1, p. 70, ¶ 13; Vol. 2, p. 218.) Although it is a matter of dispute between the parties, BOI submits it has suffered losses and damages in the amount of at least \$128,174.03. (R. Vol. 2, p. 333, ¶ 21.)

In accordance with the terms of the Policy, BOI submitted its Notice of Claim to Mountain West and United General on June 10, 2010. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 30-1.) United General responded on June 23, 2010, indicating it was investigating the claim and would advise BOI of its position after doing so. (R. Vol. 1, p. 33.) Nearly nine months later, FATCO finally denied BOI's claim on March 19, 2011. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 65-7.)

In its Memorandum Decision, the District Court indicated it considered the following provisions of the Policy, which BOI sets forth in full for ease of reference:

2. CONTINUATION OF INSURANCE.

(a) After Acquisition of Title. The coverage of this policy shall continue in force as of Date of Policy in favor of (i) an insured who acquires all or any part of the estate or interest in the land by foreclosure, trustee's sale, conveyance in lieu of foreclosure, or other legal manner which discharges the lien of the insured mortgage; (ii) a transferee of the estate or interest so acquired from an insured corporation, provided the transferee is the parent or wholly-owned subsidiary of the insured corporation, and their corporate successors by operation of law and not by purchase, subject to any rights or defenses the Company may have against any predecessor insureds; and (iii) . . .

- (b) After Conveyance of Title. The coverage of this policy shall continue in force as of Date of Policy in favor of an insured only so long as the insured retains an estate or interest in the Land, or holds an indebtedness secured by a purchase money mortgage given by a purchaser from the insured, or only so long as the insured shall have liability by reason of covenants of warranty made by the insured in any transfer or conveyance of the estate or interest. This policy shall not continue in force in favor of any purchaser from the insured of either (i) an estate or interest in the land, or (ii) an indebtedness secured by a purchase money mortgage given to the insured.
- (c) **Amount of Insurance.** The amount of insurance after the acquisition or after the conveyance shall in neither event exceed the least of:
- (i) the Amount of Insurance stated in Schedule A;
- (ii) the amount of the principal of the indebtedness secured by the insured mortgage as of Date of Policy, interest thereon, expenses of foreclosure, amounts advanced pursuant to the insured mortgage to assure compliance with laws or to protect the lien of the insured mortgage prior to the time of acquisition of the estate or interest in the land and secured thereby and reasonable amounts spent to prevent deterioration of improvements, but reduced by the amount of all payments made; or (iii) . . .

7. DETERMINATION AND EXTENT OF LIABILITY.

This policy is a contract of indemnity against actual monetary loss or damage sustained or incurred by the insured claimant who has suffered loss or damage by reason of the matters insured against by this policy and only to the extent herein described.

- (a) The liability of the Company under this policy shall not exceed the least of:
- (i) the Amount of Insurance stated in Schedule A, or, if applicable, the amount of insurance as defined in Section 2(c) of these Conditions and Stipulations;
- (ii) the amount of the unpaid principal indebtedness secured by the insured mortgage as limited or provided under Section 8 of these Conditions and Stipulations or as reduced under Section 9 of these Conditions and Stipulations, at the time the loss or damage insured against by this policy occurs, together with interest thereon; or
- (iii) the difference between the value of the insured estate or interest as insured and the value of the insured estate or interest subject to the defect, lien or encumbrance insured against by this policy.
- (b) In the event the insured has acquired the estate or interest in the manner described in Section 2(a) of these Conditions and Stipulations or has conveyed the title, then the liability of the Company shall continue as set forth in Section 7(a) of these Conditions and Stipulations.

. . .

9. REDUCTION OF INSURANCE; REDUCTION OR TERMINATION OF LIABILITY.

- (a) All payments under this policy, . . . shall reduce the amount of insurance pro tanto. However, any payments made prior to the acquisition of title to the estate or interest as provided in Section 2(a) of these Conditions and Stipulations shall not reduce pro tanto the amount of insurance afforded under this policy except to the extent the payments reduce the amount of the indebtedness secured by the insured mortgage.
- (b) Payment in part by any person of the principal of the indebtedness, or any other obligation secured by the insured mortgage, or any voluntary partial satisfaction or release of the insured mortgage, to the extent of the payment, satisfaction or release, shall reduce the amount of insurance pro tanto. The amount of insurance may thereafter be increased by accruing interest and advances made to protect the lien of the insured mortgage and secured thereby, with interest thereon, provided in no event shall the amount of insurance be greater than the Amount of Insurance stated in Schedule A.
- (c) Payment in full by any person or the voluntary satisfaction or release of the insured mortgage shall terminate all liability of the Company except as provided in Section 2(a) of these Conditions and Stipulations.

Schedule A

Amount of Insurance: \$227.041.30

Date of Policy: January 8, 2007 at 3:40 PM.

ENDORSEMENT (CLTA Form 116)

The Company hereby insures the owner of the indebtedness secured by the insured mortgage against loss or damage which the insured shall sustain by reason of the failure of (i) a MULTI FAMILY RESIDENCE (description of improvement e.g. "a single family residence") known as 1354 E 16th Street, Idaho Falls, ID 83401 (street address), to be located on the land at Date of Policy, or (ii) the map attached to this policy to correctly show the location and dimensions of the land according to the public records.

This endorsement is issued as part of the policy. Except as it expressly states, it does not (i) modify any of the terms and provisions of the policy, (ii) modify any prior endorsements, (iii) extend the Date of Policy, or (iv) increase the Amount of Insurance. To the extent a provision of the policy or a previous endorsement is inconsistent with an express provision of this endorsement, this endorsement controls. Otherwise, this endorsement is subject to all of the terms and provisions of the policy and any prior endorsements. (Emphasis in original)

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Did the District Court err in concluding that BOI's full credit bid at the trustee's sale constituted a "voluntary satisfaction or release of the insured mortgage" which terminated FATCO's liability pursuant to Section 9(c) of the Policy Conditions and Stipulations?
- 2. Did the District Court err in relying on the full credit bid, given the Idaho appellate decisions which expressly limit those who can assert a full credit bid as a defense to a debtor on a secured obligation?
- 3. Did the District Court err in construing the meaning and effect of Section 7(a)(ii) of the Policy by concluding that the earliest point that "loss or damage" occurred is the time of the foreclosure sale, given the abundant evidence in the record that clearly demonstrates BOI sustained "loss or damage" before the trustee's sale took place.

ATTORNEY'S FEES ON APPEAL

BOI respectfully submits that it is entitled to an award of attorney's fees on appeal pursuant to Idaho Code § 41-1839(1), because this is an action against an insurer that failed to pay the amount justly due under the Policy.

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction.

The District Court concluded that BOI did not suffer a loss covered by the Policy. (R. Vol. 2, p. 461.) It based that conclusion entirely on the fact of BOI's full credit bid at the trustee's sale, coupled with its interpretation of the meaning and effect of Sections 2, 7 and 9 of the Conditions and Stipulations to the Policy. (R. Vol. 2, p. 459-61.) Indeed, the Court even

acknowledged that the affidavit testimony of Larry Bell "may be sufficient for creating an issue of fact about" BOI's damages, but nonetheless concluded that was immaterial because "the full credit bid resolved the debt, and the mortgage must be considered satisfied, with no further amounts owing." (R. Vol. 2, p. 461.)

BOI respectfully submits that the District Court erred in construing the meaning and effect Sections 2, 7 and 9, and in its application of the full credit bid to bar BOI's recovery. In particular, the Court's conclusion that the full credit bid constituted a "voluntary satisfaction or release of the insured mortgage" which terminated FATCO's liability pursuant to Section 9(c) is plainly incorrect, and lies at the heart of the Court's decision. Accordingly, the Court's grant of summary judgment to FATCO cannot stand, and should be reversed for each of the reasons discussed in detail below.

II. Standard of Review.

This Court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment *de novo*, and employs the same standard a district court uses to rule on the motion. *See, e.g., Stonebrook Const., LLC v. Chase Home Finance, LLC,* 152 Idaho 927, 929-30, 277 P.3d 374, 376-7 (2012); *Arreguin v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Idaho,* 145 Idaho 459, 461, 180 P.3d 498, 500 (2008). Summary judgment is only appropriate when the pleadings, depositions, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* The Court liberally construes the record in favor of the party opposing the motion, and draws all reasonable inferences and conclusions in favor of that party. *Id.*

The interpretation of the legal effect of an insurance policy, the meaning of unambiguous provisions contained therein and the question of whether a given provision is ambiguous are all questions of law over which this Court exercises free review. *Rizzo v. State Farm Ins. Co.*, ___ Idaho ___, 305 P.3d 519, 523 (2013); *Arreguin*, 145 Idaho at 461, 180 P.3d at 500. When policy language is clear and unambiguous, it must be given its ordinary meaning, and coverage is determined according to the plain meaning of the words employed. *Rizzo*, ___ Idaho at ___, 305 P.3d at 523; *Farm Bureau Ins. Co. v. Kinsey*, 149 Idaho 415, 419, 234 P.3d 739, 743 (2010).

III. The District Court's conclusion that BOI's full credit bid at the trustee's sale constituted a "voluntary satisfaction or release of the insured mortgage" which terminated FATCO's liability pursuant to Section 9(c) of the Policy was incorrect and must be reversed.

The District Court's conclusion that "[u]nder Section 9, the full credit bid constituted a 'voluntary satisfaction or release of the insured mortgage' which terminated Defendant's liability" is the core of its decision. (R. Vol. 2, p. 460.) BOI respectfully submits that conclusion is incorrect for the following reasons.

By its own terms, Section 9(c) does not terminate FATCO's liability in this case because BOI made its full credit bid in the context of a trustee's sale where it acquired legal title to the property, thereby discharging the mortgage lien. Such circumstances fall squarely within the express exception to Section 9(c)'s applicability. It provides:

[9](c) Payment in full by any person or the voluntary satisfaction or release of the insured mortgage shall terminate all liability of the Company except as provided in Section 2(a) of these Conditions and Stipulations. (Emphasis added.)

(R. Vol. 2, p. 456.)

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