# UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-31-2013

# Bank of Idaho v. First American Title Insurance Company Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41157

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

### **IV. ARGUMENT**

#### A. Introduction

A loan policy of title insurance, such as the Loan Policy at issue in this case, is a contract of indemnity against actual monetary loss or damage incurred by reason of matters insured against in the policy and only to the extent described in the policy. Multiple provisions of the Loan Policy quoted by BOI in its brief make it clear that the amount of coverage is limited to, at most, the amount of the outstanding debt secured by the insured deed of trust.

BOI alleges that it suffered damages at various points in time and that such damages were of the kind insured against under the Loan Policy. First American disputes that BOI has suffered any damages covered under the Loan Policy. Even if it is assumed, for the sake

of argument, that BOI at some point incurred covered damages, First American's liability to BOI under the Loan Policy was extinguished when BOI made a full credit bid at the foreclosure sale and thereby reduced the amount of the outstanding debt to zero.

# B. The District Court did not err in concluding that BOI's full credit bid at the trustee's sale constituted a "voluntary satisfaction or release of the insured mortgage" which terminated First American's liability under the Loan Policy Conditions and Stipulations.

In this matter, the parties agree that the question of whether First American is liable to BOI is to be decided based on the terms, conditions, and provisions of the Loan Policy. Like other kinds of insurance, title insurance does not protect the insured against every kind of loss that the insured may incur in connection with the subject property. A title insurance policy "is a contract for indemnity against actual monetary loss or damage sustained by the insured claimant who has suffered loss or damage by reason of matters insured against by [the title] policy and only to the extent [therein] described." (R. Vol. 2, p. 455.) "Title insurance policies are contracts between insureds and insurers. As such, absent ambiguity, they are normally governed by the same rules as applied to contracts generally." *Boel v. Stewart Title Guar. Co.*, 137 Idaho 9, 13, 43 P.3d 768, 772 (2002).

With regard to interpreting insurance contracts, this Court has stated:

It is the function of the Court to construe a contract of insurance as it is written, and the Court by construction can not create a liability not assumed by the insurer, nor make a new contract for the parties, or one different from that plainly intended, nor add words to the contract of insurance to either create or avoid liability. *Thomas v. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. of Idaho*, 82 Idaho 314,

318, 353 P.2d 776, 778 (1960) (quoting *Miller v. World Ins. Co.*, 76 Idaho 355, 357, 283 P.2d 581, 582 (1955)).

Where a title policy is clear and unambiguous, it should be interpreted and enforced in accordance with its plain meaning.

An analysis of the terms and conditions of the Loan Policy, in light of the undisputed facts of this case, reveals that First American is not liable to BOI. To determine whether a title insurance company is liable to an insured, the natural starting point for the analysis is <u>Section 7</u> of the Loan Policy Conditions and Stipulations, entitled "Determination and Extent

of Liability". Section 7 provides:

# 7. DETERMINATION AND EXTENT OF LIABILITY.

This policy is a contract for indemnity against actual monetary loss or damage sustained by the insured claimant who has suffered loss or damage by reason of matters insured against by this policy and only to the extent herein described.

- (a) <u>The liability of the Company under this policy shall not exceed the least</u> <u>of</u>:
  - the Amount of Insurance stated in Schedule A, or, if applicable, the amount of insurance as defined in Section 2(c) of these Conditions and Stipulations;
  - (ii) the amount of the unpaid principal indebtedness secured by the insured mortgage as limited or provided under Section 8 of these Conditions and Stipulations or as reduced under Section 9 of these Conditions and Stipulations, at the time the loss or damage insured against by this policy occurs, together with interest thereon; or

- (iii) the difference between the value of the insured estate or interest as insured and the value of the insured estate or interest subject to the defect, lien or encumbrance insured against by this policy.
- (b) In the event the insured has acquired the estate or interest in the manner described in Section 2(a) of these Conditions and Stipulations or has conveyed the title, then the liability of the Company shall continue as set forth in Section 7(a) of these Conditions and Stipulations.
- (c) The Company will pay only those costs, attorneys' fees and expenses incurred in accordance with Section 4 of these Conditions and Stipulations. (R. Vol. 2, p. 294.) (emphasis added)

As quoted above, the liability of First American to BOI under the Loan Policy "shall

not exceed . . . the amount of the unpaid principal indebtedness secured by the insured

mortgage . . . as reduced under Section 9 of [the] Conditions and Stipulations."

Section 9 of the Conditions and Stipulations provides:

# 9. REDUCTION OF INSURANCE: REDUCTION OR TERMINATION OF LIABILITY

- (a) All payments under this policy, except for payments made for costs, attorneys fees and expenses, shall reduce the amount of insurance pro tanto. However, any payments made prior to the acquisition of title to the estate or interest as provided in Section 2(a) of these Conditions and Stipulations shall not reduce pro tanto the amount of insurance afforded under this policy except to the extent the payments reduce the amount of the indebtedness secured by the insured mortgage.
- (b) Payment in part by any person of the principal of the indebtedness, or any other obligation secured by the insured mortgage, or any voluntary partial satisfaction or release of the insured mortgage, to the extent of the payment, satisfaction or release, shall reduce the amount of insurance pro tanto. The

amount of insurance may thereafter be increased by accruing interest and advances made to protect the lien of the insured mortgage and secured thereby, with interest thereon, provided in no event shall the amount of insurance be greater than the Amount of Insurance stated in Schedule A.

(c) Payment in full by any person or the voluntary satisfaction or release of the insured mortgage shall terminate all liability of the Company except as provided in Section 2(a) of these Conditions and Stipulations. (R. Vol. 2, p. 294-95.) (emphasis added)

As discussed in greater detail below, when BOI acquired the subject property at a nonjudicial foreclosure sale by winning the auction with a full credit bid, the indebtedness secured by the insured deed of trust was paid in full and the insured deed of trust was satisfied and released. As noted in Section 9(c) above, the voluntary satisfaction and release of the deed of trust terminated all liability of First American to BOI "except as provided in Section 2(a) of [the] Conditions and Stipulations."

Section 2(a) describes the parties who are eligible for continued coverage after acquisition of title. Section 2(b) describes the limited situations in which coverage will continue in favor of such parties. Section 2(c) describes the amount of insurance available in the limited situations described in Sections 2(a) and 2(b).

Section 2 states:

- 2. CONTINUATION OF INSURANCE.
- (a) After Acquisition of Title. The coverage of this policy shall continue in force as of the Date of Policy in favor of (i) an insured who acquires all or any part of the estate or interest in the land by foreclosure,

trustee's sale, conveyance in lieu of foreclosure, or other legal manner which discharges the lien of the insured mortgage; (ii) a transferee of the estate or interest so acquired from an insured corporation, provided the transferee is the parent or wholly-owned subsidiary of the insured corporation, and their corporate successors by operation of law and not by purchase, subject to any rights or defenses the Company may have against any predecessor insureds; and (iii) . . .

- (b) After Conveyance of Title. The coverage of this policy shall continue in force as of Date of Policy in favor of an insured only so long as the insured retains an estate or interest in the land, or holds an indebtedness secured by a purchase money mortgage given by a purchaser from the insured, or only so long as the insured shall have liability by reason of covenants of warranty made by the insured in any transfer or conveyance of the estate or interest.
- (c) **Amount of Insurance.** The amount of insurance after the acquisition or after the conveyance shall in neither event exceed the least of:

(i) the Amount of Insurance stated in Schedule A;
(ii) the amount of the principal of the indebtedness secured by the insured mortgage as of Date of Policy, interest thereon, expenses of foreclosure, amounts advanced pursuant to the insured mortgage to assure compliance with laws or to protect the lien of the insured mortgage prior to the time of acquisition of the estate or interest in the land and secured thereby and reasonable amounts spent to prevent deterioration of improvements, but reduced by the amount of all payments made; or

(iii) . . . (R. Vol. 2, p. 293.) (emphasis added)

In BOI's Brief, BOI noted that coverage continued after BOI acquired title by foreclosure, as stated in Section 2(a), but failed to note the limitation on the amount of insurance described in Section 2(c). After acquisition of title, the amount of insurance does

not exceed the sum of the principal of the indebtedness and the other amounts described in Section 2(c)(ii), "reduced by the amount of all payments made." (emphasis added)

The amount of BOI's winning bid at the foreclosure sale was "all amounts due and owning as of March 11, 2010 [the date of the foreclosure sale], under the terms of the Deed of Trust and Modification of Deed of Trust." (R. Vol. 2, pp. 212-13.) The amounts due and owning under the terms of the Deed of Trust included "all principal, interest, and other amounts, costs and expenses payable under the Note . . . and any amounts expended or advanced by [BOI] to discharge Grantor's obligations or expenses incurred by Trustee or [BOI] to enforce Grantor's obligations under the Deed of Trust, together with interest on such amounts as provided in this Deed of Trust." See definition of "Indebtedness" in the Lot 1 Deed of Trust. (R. Vol. 2, p. 188.) In other words, BOI's winning bid was for all of the amounts described in <u>Section 2(c)(ii)</u> quoted above. As explained more fully below, credit bids such as BOI's winning credit bid in this case, constitute payments on the secured indebtedness. Because credit bids constitute payments and BOI's credit bid was for all amounts due and owing, BOI's credit bid in this case reduced the amount of insurance under <u>Section 2(c)</u> to zero.

The same conclusion is reached by applying <u>Section 7(b)</u> of the Conditions and Stipulations, which states:

(b) In the event the insured has acquired the estate or interest in the manner described in Section 2(a) of these Conditions and Stipulations or has

conveyed the title, then the liability of the Company shall continue as set forth in Section 7(a) of these Conditions and Stipulations. (R. Vol. 2, p. 294.)

As noted above, Section 7(a)(ii) provides that the amount of insurance is not to exceed the amount of the unpaid principal indebtedness secured by the insured mortgage, reduced by payments received as described in Section 9. Section 9(b) specifically provides:

Payment in part by any person of the principal of the indebtedness, or any other obligation secured by the insured mortgage, or any voluntary partial satisfaction or release of the insured mortgage, to the extent of the payment, satisfaction or release, shall reduce the amount of insurance pro tanto. (R. Vol. 2, p. 294.)

As previously mentioned, <u>Section 9(c)</u> provides that payment in full terminates all liability of the Company, except as provided in <u>Section 2(a)</u>. (R. Vol. 2, p. 295.) The amount of any liability under <u>Section 2(a)</u> is specifically described in <u>Section 2(c)</u>, which states that the amount of liability after the insured's acquisition of title under <u>Section 2(a)</u> is reduced by the amount of all payments made. (R. Vol. 2, p. 294.)

In BOI's analysis of the Loan Policy's Conditions and Stipulations, found on pages 11-14 of BOI's Brief, BOI prematurely ends its discussion of Section 2(a) by failing to consider Section 2(c), which defines the amount of insurance available to a party who has acquired title as described in Section 2(a). Section 2(c) states that the amount of insurance is the least of three alternatives, one of which is the amount of the secured indebtedness "reduced by the amount of all payments made." (R. Vol. 2, p. 293.) Under the facts of this

case, the amount of insurance available to BOI under <u>Section 2(c)</u> was reduced to zero when BOI purchased the subject property at foreclosure auction with a credit bid equivalent to all amounts secured by the insured deed of trust. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 212-13.)

Read in their entirety, <u>Sections 2</u>, <u>7</u>, and <u>9</u> of the Loan Policy's Conditions and Stipulations clearly and unambiguously provide that the amount of insurance under the Loan Policy is reduced by payments made on the secured indebtedness. Below, we discuss the fact that credit bids, such as the winning bid made by BOI at the foreclosure sale, do indeed constitute payments made on secured indebtedness. When BOI won the auction by making a full credit bid, the amount of insurance, as set forth in <u>Sections 2</u>, <u>7</u>, and <u>9</u> of the Conditions and Stipulations, was reduced to zero. Therefore, First American is not liable to BOI under the Loan Policy.

# C. The District Court did not err in finding that BOI's full credit bid was correctly applied as a payment on the secured obligation and that it satisfied in full any and all obligations to BOI with respect to the secured indebtedness.

As discussed above, payments made on indebtedness secured by an insured deed of trust clearly affect the extent of liability under a loan policy of title insurance. It is well established that a lender's credit bid at a foreclosure sale is treated as an actual payment on the underlying debt.

It makes no sense to require the note holder to bring cash to the sale in order to pay himself. His bid, if successful, immediately reduces or eliminates the debtor's obligation. We hold that where the holder of the deed of trust note is the bidder, crediting the bid against the note is the equivalent of a cash sale.

*Fed. Home Loan Mortg. Corp. v. Appel*, 143 Idaho 42, 45, 137 P.3d 429, 432 (2006).

At a nonjudicial foreclosure sale, if the lender chooses to bid, it does so in the capacity of a purchaser. The only distinction between the lender and any other bidder is that the lender is not required to pay cash, but is entitled to make a credit bid up to the amount of the outstanding indebtedness. The purpose of this entitlement is to avoid the inefficiency of requiring the lender to tender cash which would only be immediately returned to it. *Alliance Mortg. Co. v. Rothwell*, 900 P.2d 601, 608 (Cal. 1995) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

A beneficiary's credit bid, whether full or partial, is actual payment to the beneficiary to the extent of the bid, just as a cash bid and payment by a non-beneficiary would be. A beneficiary who bids high, drives out other bidders, and takes the property for the amount of its bid may not then say it was not really paid because it paid itself too much. *M&I Bank, F.S.B. v. Coughlin*, 805 F. Supp. 2d 858, 868 (D. Ariz. 2011).

The public policy behind the doctrine that credit bids constitute payments on outstanding

indebtedness is clear. If credit bids were not applied as payments, the integrity of nonjudicial

foreclosure sales would be undermined, as explained in the above quotations.

When a lender makes a winning credit bid at a foreclosure sale, it is the same as if the

lender received a cash payment in the amount of the credit bid. Appel, 143 Idaho at 45, 137

P.3d at 432; Coughlin, 805 F. Supp. 2d at 868. In Idaho, such payments are applied as set

forth in Idaho Code § 45-1507, which provides:

### **45-1507. PROCEEDS OF SALE -- DISPOSITION.** The trustee shall apply

the proceeds of the trustee's sale as follows:

- (1) To the expenses of the sale, including a reasonable charge by the trustee
- and a reasonable attorney's fee.
- (2) To the obligation secured by the trust deed.
- 14 RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

(3) To any persons having recorded liens subsequent to the interest of the trustee in the trust deed as their interests may appear.(4) The surplus, if any, to the grantor of the trust deed or to his successor in interest entitled to such surplus.

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